FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/20/2021 3:57 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100497-4

No. 100437-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Lakeside Industries, Inc.

Petitioner,

v.

Washington State Department of Revenue

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

LAKESIDE INDUSTRIES, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Callie A. Castillo, WSBA No. 38214 Brett S. Durbin, WSBA No. 35781 LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, Washington 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000 Facsimile: 206.223.7107

Attorneys for Lakeside Industries, Inc

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The History of Lakeside's Use of Actual Costs to Value its Products Used in Public Road Construction Projects.

Lakeside is an asphalt manufacturer, retailer, and paving company. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 26 (AR 79). It uses a significant portion of the asphalt it manufactures in public road construction activities. AR 79. Taxpayers engaged in public road construction must report and pay use tax on the value of material used in the project that they self-manufacture. *See* RCW

¹ The Administrative Record is located beginning at CP 26 ("Email/s") and consists of 126 pages marked ADMIN followed by a six-digit number. Lakeside cites to the administrative record as "AR" and the corresponding page number. References to the Clerk's Papers will be cited as "CP".

82.12.010(7)(b); RCW 82.04.450; WAC 458-20-171.

RCW 82.04.450 provides in relevant part that, when a manufacturer's products are manufactured for commercial or industry use, the value of the products

shall correspond as nearly as possible to the gross proceeds from sales in this state of similar products of like quality and character, and in similar quantities by other taxpayers, plus the amount of subsidies or bonuses ordinarily payable by the purchaser or by any third person with respect to the extraction, manufacture, or sale of such products.

RCW 82.04.450(1)(a), (2) (emphasis added). Comparably, for certain public construction projects, the value of the manufactured product is determined (1) first by the retail selling price of the article; (2) or, in the absence of selling price, "as nearly as possible to the retail selling price at place of use of similar products of like quality and character;" (3) or, "in the absence of either" the value "may be determined upon a cost basis." RCW 82.12.010(7)(b) (emphasis added). WAC 458-20-112 ("Rule 112") likewise provides that the value of products is based on "sales at comparable locations in this state of similar

products of like quality and character, in similar quantities, under comparable conditions of sale, to comparable purchasers." "In the absence of sales of similar products," a taxpayer may determine the value based on the cost of the product. Rule 112(3).

Lakeside manufactures many types of asphalt products that are tailored to specific projects for use in different locations. AR 3. Pricing for a particular asphalt product on a specific public road construction job may depend on the time and quantity, cost of materials to create the asphalt, the availability of skilled labor, and the schedules for jobs in the current backlog. AR 3, 18, 24-39. Also, different road projects require different asphalt product specifications and design mixtures. AR 19. For example, a short arterial road in Longview will have a different product specification and design mixture than a stretch of 1-90 in Snoqualmie Pass. Id. Because of these and other factors, the Department previously accepted Lakeside's use of the cost method to value the asphalt Lakeside uses in its public road

construction business. See AR 3, 97, 106.

B. The Department Orders Lakeside to Value its Products Based on Comparable Sales.

In June 2018, the Department's Audit Division performed a partial audit of Lakeside's vehicle sales for the tax period January 1, 2014 to March 31, 2018. AR 85-90. The partial audit resulted in no tax adjustment or assessment of additional taxes due by Lakeside with respect to its motor vehicle sales or any other activity. See AR 86 ("Tax Adjustment...\$0.00"); AR 87 ("Reconciliation of Vehicle Sales—No Tax Due"); AR 88 ("No adjustments have been made for the period audited."). The Department, however, used the audit letter as a means to issue "specific written instructions" ordering Lakeside to prepare the value of its asphalt products "based on a 'comparable sales' value, and not on a cost basis." AR 125-26. The instructions were issued even though the Department never reviewed Lakeside's public road construction sales records. AR 79.

Lakeside petitioned the Department to withdraw the future reporting instructions and for an adjudication under RCW

34.05.413 and WAC 458-20-100. AR 78-83. Lakeside objected to the Department's use of the vehicle sales audit as a means of issuing reporting instructions on Lakeside's public road construction activities. AR 80-81. Lakeside also asserted that the Department's reporting instructions were not consistent with RCW 82.12.010 and WAC 458-20-112, and arbitrary and capricious because they were not based on Lakeside's actual records and Lakeside had no comparable sales by which it could adhere to the Department's reporting instructions. AR 81-83.

The Audit Division admitted that, "[a]s part of the preparation for the field work for the current audit," it had reviewed a 10-year old audit from Lakeside's predecessor and interviewed the former auditor to determine how Lakeside had been reporting public road construction jobs. AR 93. The Audit Division also indicated it reviewed several of Lakeside's Public Works Contract reconciliations to justify the reporting instructions. *Id.* However, the reconciliations provide only a general breakdown of the job revenue and computation of the

applicable taxes for public works projects. *See* AR 99-101. They do not show sales of asphalt products, nor do they include specific descriptions of the projects, products used, quantities, or conditions of sale. *See id*.

On November 21, 2018, a Department Tax Review Officer held a hearing on Lakeside's protest of the future reporting instructions. *See* AR 43. Nearly ten months later, on August 28, 2019, the Tax Review Officer upheld the instructions with some modification. AR 44. The Determination concluded that reconciliation tax reports for two different road construction projects showed that comparable sales were available. *Id*.

Lakeside sought reconsideration. AR 16-23. It pointed out that the two road construction projects relied on by the Department were paving projects that did not involve sales of asphalt and were not comparable paving projects based on several factors. AR 19-21. Lakeside also objected to the modified reporting instructions as impracticable because the Department made assumptions about how Lakeside could comply without

reviewing Lakeside's sales records. AR 21-22. And, there were, in fact, no comparable sales that Lakeside could use to comply with the Department's instructions. *Id*.

Two months later, the Tax Review Officer issued its reconsideration decision. AR 57-63. The Department agreed that the two road construction projects on which it had based the original determination were not actually comparable sales, AR 61, but nevertheless asserted that Lakeside could find comparable sales somewhere. *See* AR 61-62. The Department again modified Lakeside's future tax reporting instructions:

Starting with the period beginning January 1, 2020, Taxpayer must report the value of its manufactured asphalt and other products that are incorporated into its public road construction projects using the comparable sales method pursuant to RCW 82.04.450 and WAC 458-20-112.

. . . .

The reporting instructions in this Determination shall remain binding until ... the department notifies the taxpayer in writing that these instructions are no longer valid. Any change in these instructions will have prospective application only. These instructions constitute "specific written instructions" within the meaning

of RCW 82.32.090. Failure to follow these instructions will subject the taxpayer to the additional ten percent penalty mandated by that section. This decision constitutes the final action of the Department of Revenue.

AR 62-63. (Emphases added).

C. The Lower Courts Deny Lakeside the Opportunity to Contest the Department's Mandatory Written Instructions.

Lakeside timely filed a Petition for Judicial Review under the Administrative Procedure Act in King County Superior Court of the Department's final decision. CP 1-8. Shortly thereafter, the Department of Revenue moved to dismiss under Civil Rules 12(b)(1), (3), and (6), asserting that Lakeside had no "legitimate basis" for seeking judicial review of the Department's reporting instructions. CP 12-20. Specifically, the Department asserted that statutes requiring a taxpayer contesting a tax assessment or collection of a tax to first prepay the tax preclude Lakeside from challenging the Department's reporting instructions under the APA. CP 15-16. The Department also contended that the statutes require tax refund actions to be filed in Thurston County Superior

Court. Id.

Concurring with the Department, the King County Superior Court dismissed Lakeside's Petition for Judicial Review with prejudice under CR 12(b)(1), (6). CP 199-203. Lakeside appealed. CP 204-05. The Court of Appeals agreed that the superior court erred in dismissing Lakeside's petition for lack of subjection matter jurisdiction. Lakeside Indus. Inc., 495 P.3d at 260-61. It, however, affirmed dismissal because "Lakeside petitioned under the APA rather" than under RCW 82.03.180 or RCW 82.32.180, and had not first paid any tax. *Id.* Lakeside asked the Court to reconsider, which the Court of Appeals denied on November 18, 2021. Lakeside now seeks review from this Court so that it and others can seek relief from the courts when the Department of Revenue oversteps its authority in matters where no de novo review is available under RCW 82.03.180 or RCW 82.32.180.

V. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED</u>

The Court of Appeals adopted the Department of

Revenue's overly restrictive view that all matters tangentially related to tax must be funneled solely through the appeal process for tax assessments or obtaining a refund of a tax, even when there is no tax assessment or tax refund at issue. In doing so, the Court of Appeals ignored the plain text of multiple statutory provisions in both the APA and Title 82 RCW, as well as how this Court and other courts have analyzed the interplay amongst these laws. Because the Court of Appeals' decision creates a conflict in the law and deprives access to the courts for those seeking to challenge Department of Revenue actions unrelated to tax assessments or tax refunds, Lakeside asks this Court to accept review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With the Statutory Scheme in Both the APA and Title 82 RCW

The Court of Appeals concluded that the procedures in Title 82 RCW allow for de novo review of the Department's written instructions, and thus judicial review under the APA was foreclosed to Lakeside. *See Lakeside*, 495 P.3d at 262. Neither the text of the relevant statutes—specifically RCW 34.05.510(3),

RCW 82.03.180, and RCW 82.32.180—nor the case law analyzing those statutes support the Court of Appeals' conclusion. Only the APA provides for judicial review of the Department of Revenue's written instructions.

1. The APA Gives Way Only to Another Expressly Applicable Means of Court Review.

RCW 34.05.510 provides that the APA establishes the "exclusive means of judicial review of agency action, except . . . to the extent that de novo review . . . of agency action is expressly authorized by provision of law." RCW 34.05.510(3). While this Court has not had an opportunity to address this provision, the Courts of Appeals have held that the plain meaning of the text is that the Legislature had to have expressly authorized de novo review of the exact same action in another statute for the exception to apply. See Wells Fargo N.A. v. Dep't of Revenue, 166 Wn. App. 342, 353-54, 271 P.3d 268 (2012) (adopting the Department's argument that no statute in RCW 82.32 expressly authorized de novo review of Department closing agreements, therefore the APA governed review of the agreement);

Washington Citizen Action v. Office of Ins. Comm'r, 94 Wn. App. 64, 72, 971 P.2d 527 (1999) (finding no statute authorized de novo review of an Insurance Commissioner's decision related to disclosure of certain documents, therefore the APA governed the decision); but see Booker Auction Co. v. Dep't of Revenue, 158 Wn. App. 84, 89, 241 P.3d 439 (2010) (extending the de novo exception in RCW 34.05.510 to Department reporting instructions under RCW 82.32.180; discussed further infra). This plain meaning construction requiring express authorization is consistent with the explicit language used in RCW 34.05.510(3), as well as the Legislature's intent that the APA would generally govern challenges to most agency actions. See RCW 34.05.510; Hillis v. Dep't of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 381, 932 P.2d 139 (1997) (recognizing "limited exceptions" to APA exclusivity); accord Wells Fargo, 166 Wn. App. at 358.

The Court of Appeals stated that "the APA's general provisions cannot overcome Title 82 RCW specific ones." *Lakeside*, 495 P.3d at 263 (citing *Booker*, 158 Wn. App. at 90).

But the Court of Appeals did not analyze whether any statute expressly authorized court review of the written instructions at issue in Lakeside's petition; rather the Court of Appeals merely assumed that the statutory procedures in RCW 82.03.180 and RCW 82.32.180 could apply. *See id.* Neither statute, however, expressly authorizes de novo court review of written reporting instructions issued by the Department, or even apply to Lakeside's circumstances. The statutes simply do not take priority over the procedures set forth in the APA.

2. No Statute in Title 82 RCW Provides for Review of Department Written Instructions.

The Court of Appeals first pointed to the availability of Lakeside obtaining de novo review of the Department of Revenue's written instructions through the Board of Tax Appeals under RCW 82.03.180. *Lakeside*, 495 P.3d at 261, 263. It is incontrovertible that the Board of Tax Appeals does not have jurisdiction to review the Department's written instructions issued under RCW 82.32.090. *See* RCW 82.03.130 (setting Board jurisdiction over certain appeals, which do not include

determinations addressing written instructions issued under RCW 82.32.090); see, also, Four Winds International Corp. v. Dep't of Revenue, BTA Dkt. 50315, 1998 WL 1165612 at *2 (1998) (holding that Board of Tax Appeals does not have jurisdiction to review written instructions issued by the Department).² Thus, the procedural appeal path for de novo review under RCW 82.03.180 is thus statutorily unavailable to challenge the Department's action in issuing the written instructions.

The Court of Appeals next pointed to RCW 82.32.180. Lakeside Indust., Inc., 495 P.3d at 262. But that statute also does not authorize de novo court review of reporting instructions issued by the Department. It authorizes de novo review when a taxpayer who has "paid any tax as required and feeling aggrieved by the amount of the tax" appeals to the superior court to

-

² The Department agreed below. *See* Dep't COA Response Br. at 11 n. 1 ("The Board's jurisdiction does not extend to reviewing determinations addressing solely future reporting instructions.").

"recover the amount paid." RCW 82.32.180. It also authorizes de novo review when a taxpayer has applied for a refund of paid taxes and been denied by the Department. *Id.* In other words, the statute authorizes a mechanism only for obtaining a tax refund. *See Washington Bankers Assoc. v. State of Washington*, __Wn.2d__, 495 P.3d 808, 827 (2021) ("RCW 82.32.180 provides the procedure for taxpayers seeking a tax refund."). Nothing in the plain text of the statute authorizes de novo review of Department reporting instructions.

B. The Court of Appeal's Analysis Conflicts with this Court's Analysis in *Washington Bankers Association*.

The Court of Appeals determined that Lakeside's petition was ultimately a challenge to its tax liability that must be brought under Title 82 RCW. *Lakeside*, 495 P.3d at 263. Relying on the *Booker* decision, the Court of Appeals erroneously assumed that "payment of the use tax [by Lakeside] is imminent," such that Lakeside could ultimately file a refund action under RCW 82.32.180 as a means to challenge the Department's reporting

instructions. *Id.*³ But the analysis in *Booker* is not consistent with the plain meaning of RCW 82.32.180. The Court of Appeals was wrong to give that decision any weight and preclude Lakeside from seeking review under the APA based only on a hypothetical, which may never come to pass.

Booker involved review of future reporting instructions issued as part of an audit. The Department determined that Booker Auction had improperly claimed a tax exemption and thus should have paid additional taxes. Booker, 158 Wn. App. at 86-87. Rather than assessing the company, the Department issued prospective reporting instructions telling the company that it must collect sales tax in the future. Id. at 87. When the company sought review under the APA, the Court of Appeals concluded that review of the Department's reporting instructions

-

³ The Court of Appeals cited no factual basis to support its presumption that Lakeside would be required to pay additional use tax in the near future or that Lakeside's objective is to challenge the amount of taxes it owes. *See id.* The reason is because there is none.

under the APA was barred by the provisions in RCW 82.32.150 and .180. *Booker*, 158 Wn. App. at 88-89.

Like the Court of Appeals did here, the Booker court did not address the distinction between a challenge to an assessment of taxes governed by RCW 82.32.150 and .180, and a challenge to written reporting instructions issued under RCW 82.32.090. See RCW 82.32.150 ("All taxes, penalties, and interest shall be paid in full before any action may be instituted in any court to contest all or any part of such taxes, penalties, or interest"); RCW 82.32.180 ("Any person . . . having paid any tax as required and feeling aggrieved by the amount of the tax may appeal to the superior court of Thurston county . . . for a refund"); RCW 82.32.090 ("specific written instructions as to reporting or tax liabilities") (emphases added to all). The *Booker* court only summarily stated that "because RCW 82.32.180 provides de novo review," the judicial review procedures under the APA did not apply to the reporting instructions even though they did not impose any tax liability. See Booker, 158 Wn. App. at 89 (citing RCW 34.05.510(3)).

The Booker Auction court also did not explain how RCW 82.32.180 could be construed to expressly authorize de novo review of written reporting instructions as is required to trigger the exception in RCW 34.05.510(3). See id. Instead, like the Court of Appeals below, the *Booker* court only assumed that the provisions in RCW 82.32.180 could hypothetically apply. But both Courts of Appeals' hypothetical extension of RCW 82.32.180's potential future applicability to preclude access to the courts is not consistent with how this Court recently analyzed the statute in the Washington Bankers Association case. Unlike the lower courts, this Court held that RCW 82.32.180 does not exclude other statutory mechanisms for challenging tax-related matters when no refund is actually being sought. Washington Bankers Assoc., 495 P.3d at 827-28.

In Washington Bankers Association, the State of Washington and Department of Revenue had asserted that challengers to a tax statute lacked standing under the Uniform

Declaratory Judgment Act because their associational members were required to bring a refund action under RCW 82.32.180. *See id.* at 827 ("According to the State, when the legislature enacted RCW 82.32.180, it set out the exclusive process for challenging excise taxes."). This Court rejected the State's argument, finding that RCW 82.32.180 was silent as to the circumstances presented in that case. *Id.* at 827-28.⁴ The Court concluded that "RCW 82.32.180 does not require Association members to utilize its process to the exclusion of the UDJA." *Id.*

Same too here. RCW 82.32.180 applies only to actions brought by taxpayers for refunds of taxes paid. It is silent as to the procedures when a party seeks to challenge only Department of Revenue mandatory written instructions and does not seek a refund of a tax. RCW 82.32.180. Just as in the *Washington*

⁴ The plaintiff Associations had not paid any tax before bringing the lawsuit and it appears that only some banks had paid the additional tax at issue by the time the opinion was rendered. *See Wash. Bankers Assoc.*, 495 P.3d at 813, 828. None were seeking a refund of the tax in that particular action. *Id.* 827-28. They were challenging the constitutionality of the statute. *Id.*

Bankers Association case, the de novo procedure in RCW 82.32.180 for tax refunds does not preclude Lakeside or others from seeking relief under the APA for other Department actions. Instead, under RCW 34.05.510, the APA provides the exclusive means for such judicial review.

C. The Courts of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Other Appellate Court Decisions.

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