FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/20/2022 3:28 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100497-4

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LAKESIDE INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

## **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Heidi A. Irvin Senior Counsel WSBA No. 17500 Andrew Krawczyk Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 42982

P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 OID No. 91027

#

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

The Department moved to dismiss Lakeside's APA petition for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, improper venue, and failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. CP 185-96. The court granted the Department's motion for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and failure to state a claim. CP 199-201, VRP 23. In its oral ruling, the trial court agreed that Lakeside had failed to follow statutory requirements for seeking judicial review of tax matters, citing existing state and federal case law. VRP 23 (referring to *Booker Auction Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 158 Wn. App. 84, 89, 241 P.3d 439 (2010); *Bravern Residential, II, LLC v. Dep't of Revenue*, 183 Wn. App. 769, 774-75, 334 P.3d 1182 (2014); and *Nat'l Private Truck Council, Inc. v. Oklahoma Tax Comm'n*, 515 U.S. 582, 591, 115 S. Ct. 2351, 132 L. Ed. 2d 509 (1995)).

Lakeside appealed. While the Court of Appeals reversed the superior court's dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction (CR 12(b)(1)), it affirmed the dismissal for failure to state a claim under CR 12(b)(6). The Court held that Lakeside's action failed to comply with the procedures for judicial review in RCW Title 82. *Lakeside Indus., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 225, 233-36, 495 P.3d 257 (2021). The Court of Appeals denied Lakeside's motion for reconsideration.

Lakeside timely petitioned this Court for review.

#### IV. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

The Court of Appeals decision correctly applies the governing statutes in RCW Title 82 addressing judicial review in excise tax cases, giving effect to both the letter and spirit of those statutes. It also follows and applies existing appellate cases addressing these same statutes, all honoring the Legislature's intent.

Lakeside's argument that it can avoid exclusive mechanisms for review in excise tax cases elevates form over substance. Lakeside does not seek a refund only because it chose not to apply the challenged instructions to its future tax periods and then seek a refund. The Court of Appeals properly held that Lakeside must first pay the taxes at issue under the challenged instructions and only then can it seek judicial review of the instructions. The Court of Appeals also properly rejected

Lakeside's effort to use the APA to undermine the purpose and effect of RCW Title 82 to significantly expand judicial involvement in the administration of state excise taxes. Its decision is sound and requires no further review.

# A. The Legislature Provided Pathways for Taxpayers to Obtain Judicial Review

In excise tax cases, taxpayers must follow a statutory scheme carefully crafted by the Legislature offering several defined pathways for obtaining judicial review at a superior court. Lakeside argues it can simply skip these requirements and obtain review of the issues in this case under the APA. Understanding the statutory scheme the Legislature provided for excise tax challenges is key to understanding why the lower courts correctly dismissed Lakeside's case.

In the tax arena, as with other areas of law, the Legislature determines the procedures and prerequisites for commencing a suit. Article II, section 26 of the Washington Constitution provides: "The legislature shall direct by law, in what manner, and in what courts, suits may be brought against the state." Washington's courts have long held that the right to sue the state or a state agency must be derived from statute, and the Legislature may establish preconditions for exercising that right. *Nelson v. Dunkin*, 69 Wn.2d 726, 729, 419 P.2d 984 (1966); *McDevitt v. Harborview Med. Ctr.*, 179 Wn.2d 59, 64-68, 316 P.3d 469 (2013).

For excise tax challenges, the Legislature has chosen, by statute, to allow taxpayers a right to pursue a challenge against the state and obtain judicial review in one of the ways described below. For excise tax actions, the right must be "exercised in the manner provided by the statute." *Guy F. Atkinson Co. v. State*, 66 Wn.2d 570, 575, 403 P.2d 880 (1965).

To summarize the options, taxpayers who first seek a refund from the Department may obtain informal review of a refund denial within the Department, and if unsuccessful, may appeal to the Board of Tax Appeals for further review. RCW 82.03.130(1); RCW 82.03.190; *see also* RCW 82.32.170 (departmental review of denial of refund request). Board appeals can be formal or informal. Formal appeals are conducted as adjudicative proceedings under the APA. RCW 82.03.160. Judicial review of the Board's formal appeal decisions are governed by the APA, RCW 34.05.510-.598, whereas judicial review of its informal appeal decisions is *de novo* and not governed by the APA. RCW 82.32.180.

A taxpayer choosing not to appeal to the Board either formally or informally may obtain judicial review of contested tax either by filing a tax refund in superior court as soon as it has paid the tax, or by first asking the Department for a refund and then filing a tax refund action in superior court if the Department denies that request. RCW 82.32.180.

Both RCW 82.32.180 and the Board's statute, RCW 82.03.180, require payment of the challenged tax before any court action may be maintained. RCW 82.03.180 ("no review . . . may be obtained by a taxpayer unless . . . the taxpayer shall have first paid in full the contested tax"); RCW 82.32.180 (taxpayers may seek refunds "having paid any

tax as required," and "no court action or proceeding of any kind shall be maintained by the taxpayer to recover any tax paid . . . except as herein provided"). Both statutes are consistent with RCW 82.32.150, which bars injunctions against taxes except on constitutional grounds, and further provides: "All taxes, penalties, and interest shall be paid in full before any action may be instituted in any court to contest all or any part of such taxes, penalties, or interest."

As these statutes illustrate, the Legislature provides taxpayers multiple, exclusive avenues to obtain judicial review of challenged excise taxes:

(a) File a de novo refund action in Thurston County Superior Court within the statutory nonclaim period (RCW 82.32.180);

(b) File a de novo refund action in Thurston County Superior Court within 30 days of the Department denying a request for refund (RCW 82.32.180);

(c) Obtain a determination in administrative review at the Department, appeal that determination to the Board in an *informal* appeal, then seek de novo judicial review of the Board's decision in a refund action under RCW 82.32.180 (RCW 82.03.180); (d) Obtain a determination in administrative review at the Department, appeal that determination to the Board in a *formal* appeal, then obtain judicial review of the Board's decision as an APA appeal from an adjudicative order (RCW 82.03.180); or

(e) Seek an injunction or restraining order if challenging the constitutionality of a tax assessment (RCW 82.32.150).

Of these options, only the last is available without prepayment of a contested tax, and because Lakeside alleges no constitutional objections to the Department's written instructions, it does not apply.

Rather than attempt to apply the Department's instructions, pay the tax as calculated according to those instructions, and then seek judicial review through the options laid out above, Lakeside immediately filed suit under the APA, challenging the written instructions regarding its future tax reporting. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed dismissal of Lakeside's case.

## B. The Court of Appeals Recognized that Lakeside Could Have and Should Have Complied with Procedures in RCW Title 82 to Access the Court

Lakeside's central legal premise is that the tax statutes are silent regarding judicial review of reporting instructions. Petition at 3, 22. As a result, it claims, the APA provides the only means for obtaining judicial relief of such instructions. Petition at 2, 13, 26-27. But as the Court of Appeals recognized, the Legislature could not have been clearer in its intent to limit access to the court to taxpayers only after payment of the tax and prohibiting the type of piecemeal, hypothetical challenges to instructions governing future tax years as Lakeside seeks here.

This case provides an excellent illustration of why the Legislature's precondition to judicial review is based on sound policy. Because the challenged instructions apply to calculating and reporting Lakeside's taxes *in the future*, until the business activities occur and the actual facts are known, nobody can know for certain what taxes are owing from those activities, or

whether "comparable" sales exist or not. The Legislature wisely decided against tying up the courts in hypothetical disputes over taxes before they are actually paid or the liability can be determined. Such a scenario would also be detrimental to government operations.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly gave effect to this statutory scheme. *See Ass 'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 182 Wn.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State and federal law both recognize the public's interest in not disrupting collection of taxes by allowing anticipatory or pre-deprivation relief. See, e.g., Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 96 Wn.2d 785, 796-97, 638 P.2d 1213 (1982) (court disfavors injunctions, and unless special circumstances are shown, the appellant has an adequate remedy at law with post-deprivation refund suit); *Nat'l Private Truck Council*, 515 U.S. at 591 (declaratory relief in state tax cases might throw tax administration into disarray, and taxpayers might escape the ordinary procedural requirements imposed by state law); Cal. Dep't of Tax & Fee Admin. v. *Superior Court*, 48 Cal. App. 5th 922, 930-31, 262 Cal. Rptr. 3d 397 (2020) (the "pay first, litigate later' rule . . . has been a bedrock principle of tax law for over a century"); see also Booker Auction, 158 Wn. App. at 89 ("Our legislature's requirement that taxes be paid, and then contested, harmonizes with" the "public's interest in not disrupting tax streams into the state treasury.")

342, 350, 340 P.3d 849 (2015) (when discerning legislative intent, courts consider "the statutory scheme as a whole").

As for Lakeside's insistence that this case is not a tax dispute because Lakeside does not yet seek a refund, the Court of Appeals correctly saw through such formalism: "Payment of the use tax is imminent. And the objective of Lakeside's lawsuit is to challenge the amount of taxes it owes. Lakeside's petition is a challenge to tax liability that must be brought under Title 82 RCW." 19 Wn. App. 2d at 235.

Far from having no access to judicial review, Lakeside can obtain relief from the courts just like any other taxpayer. It could, for example, follow the instructions and calculate its use tax using the sale prices for asphalt products it sells to third parties (regardless of whether it considers those sales to be "comparable"), then pay the tax for one or more months. *See* RCW 82.32.045(1) (tax payments due monthly). It could then seek a refund under RCW 82.32.180 from the Thurston County Superior Court or pursue one of the other options summarized

above. If the evidence demonstrated that the value of the products was less than the value Lakeside used for tax reporting purposes, Lakeside would be entitled to a refund, with interest. And unlike this case involving mere reporting instructions, the parties could present the court with a full record of Lakeside's business activities for a particular period. This would include facts necessary to determine whether it made any comparable sales to third parties, and if not, what costs should be included in calculating the value of the asphalt products.

In sum, Lakeside could have complied with the requirements of RCW Title 82. It just chose not to.

#### C. APA Judicial Review Procedures Do Not Supplant the Title 82 Procedures, Which Allow De Novo Review

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Lakeside's attempt to sidestep the procedures for obtaining judicial review in RCW Title 82 by means of the APA. The APA was never intended to govern judicial review when another provision of law expressly authorizes judicial review of agency action. RCW 34.05.510(3). As the Court of Appeals recognized, "the legislature expressly authorized two separate paths for de novo review of tax challenges in Title 82 RCW." 19 Wn. App. 2d at 233 (citing RCW 82.32.180 and RCW 82.03.180). Specifically, for taxpayers who pursue refund suits either with or without having been denied a refund by the Department, the Legislature expressly authorized de novo review in RCW 82.32.180: "The trial in the superior court on appeal shall be de novo." Likewise, for taxpayers who instead obtain a determination from the Department, then appeal to the Board of Tax Appeals in an informal appeal, judicial review of the Board decision "shall be de novo in accordance with the provisions of RCW 82.32.180." RCW 82.03.180.<sup>2</sup>

Interpreting the APA as being unavailable for excise tax contests also harmonizes with the provision that "*no court action* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Washington Administrative Law Task Force comments on the wholesale revision of the APA expressly mention this Board statute as an example of the type of situation addressed in RCW 34.05.510(3). 1 Senate Journal, 50th Leg., Reg. Sess. at 627 (Wash. 1987) (65 Comment).

or proceeding of any kind shall be maintained by the taxpayer to recover any tax paid, or any part thereof" except as provided in RCW 82.32.180 (emphasis added). See also RCW 82.32.150 ("[a]ll taxes, penalties, and interest shall be paid in full before any action may be instituted in any court to contest all or any part of such taxes, penalties, or interest.") Numerous cases hold that, in the absence of a constitutional challenge, the procedures in RCW Title 82 must be followed for obtaining judicial review of excise tax liabilities. See Lacey Nursing Ctr., Inc. v. Dep't of *Revenue*, 128 Wn.2d 40, 50, 905 P.2d 338 (1995) (nursing homes could not bring tax refund action as a class action because they could not establish each class member met the requirements of RCW 82.32.180); Am. Steel & Wire Co. of N. J. v. State, 49 Wn.2d 419, 424-25, 302 P.2d 207 (1956) (foreign corporation did not request refund in manner required by RCW 82.32.180).

Moreover, these statutes constitute the Legislature's specific pronouncements regarding tax disputes in superior court. Where a general statute addresses the same matter as a

specific statute, and the two cannot be harmonized, the "general statutory provision must yield" to the more specific provision. *Aventis Pharm., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 637, 656, 428 P.3d 389 (2018) (quoting *Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs.*, 182 Wn.2d at 356). Thus, the Court of Appeals was correct to rule that the APA's general judicial review procedures should not overcome the specific statutory requirements in RCW 82.03.180, RCW 82.32.150, and RCW 82.32.180 that govern excise tax matters. *Lakeside Indus.*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 233-34.

# D. The Court of Appeals Analysis is Consistent with this Court's Analysis in *Washington Bankers Association*

Lakeside also incorrectly argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's recent decision in *Washington Bankers Association v. State of Washington*, 198 Wn.2d 418, 495 P.3d 808 (2021). It does not.

*Washington Bankers* concerned a challenge under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act (UDJA) to the constitutionality of a 2019 business and occupation tax increase on financial institutions reporting annual net income of at least \$1 billion, applied to their activities in Washington. See RCW 82.04.29004. The Court concluded that the Association had standing under the UDJA to bring the action and was not limited to bringing an action under RCW 82.32.180. Wash. Bankers, 198 Wn.2d at 455-57. The Court held that "RCW 82.32.180 is silent as to the procedure for parties such as the financial institutions here who have paid a tax, seek no refund, and instead challenge the tax's constitutionality." Id. at 456. Critical to its analysis, however, was the constitutional nature of the Association's claims. The Court emphasized its own prior case law holding that "the legislature did not limit the court's equitable powers in *constitutional cases* even when 'the legal remedy may . . . be adequate."" Id. (emphasis added).

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